

A Service of

ZBШ

Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre for Economics

Leitner, Sandra M.; Stehrer, Robert

Working Paper R&D and Non-R&D Innovators in the Financial Crisis: the Role of Binding Credit Constraints

wiiw Working Paper, No. 95

Provided in Cooperation with:

The Vienna Institute for International Economic Studies (wiiw) - Wiener Institut für Internationale Wirtschaftsvergleiche (wiiw)

Suggested Citation: Leitner, Sandra M.; Stehrer, Robert (2013) : R&D and Non-R&D Innovators in the Financial Crisis: the Role of Binding Credit Constraints, wiiw Working Paper, No. 95, The Vienna Institute for International Economic Studies (wiiw), Vienna

This Version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/203960

Standard-Nutzungsbedingungen:

Die Dokumente auf EconStor dürfen zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden.

Sie dürfen die Dokumente nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, öffentlich zugänglich machen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Sofern die Verfasser die Dokumente unter Open-Content-Lizenzen (insbesondere CC-Lizenzen) zur Verfügung gestellt haben sollten, gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der dort genannten Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.

Terms of use:

Documents in EconStor may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes.

You are not to copy documents for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the documents publicly, to make them publicly available on the internet, or to distribute or otherwise use the documents in public.

If the documents have been made available under an Open Content Licence (especially Creative Commons Licences), you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the indicated licence.



WWW.ECONSTOR.EU



Wiener Institut für Internationale Wirtschaftsvergleiche The Vienna Institute for International Economic Studies

Working Papers 95 February 2013

Sandra M. Leitner and Robert Stehrer

R&D and Non-R&D Innovators in the Financial Crisis: the Role of Binding Credit Constraints



wiiw Working Papers published since 2010:

	• • •
No. 95	S. M. Leitner and R. Stehrer: R&D and Non-R&D Innovators in the Financial Crisis: the Role of Binding Credit Constraints. February 2013
No. 94	G. Streicher and R. Stehrer: Whither Panama? Constructing a Consistent and Balanced World SUT System including International Trade and Transport Margins. January 2013
No. 93	M. Holzner: The Determinants of Income Polarization on the Household and Country Level across the EU. September 2012
No. 92	M. Kelle: Crossing Industry Borders: German Manufacturers as Services Exporters. July 2012
No. 91	S. M. Leitner , R. Stehrer and B. Dachs: The Gravity of Cross-border R&D Expenditure. July 2012
No. 90	N. Foster, J. Pöschl and R. Stehrer: Offshoring and the Elasticity of Labour Demand. July 2012
No. 89	N. Foster, J. Pöschl and R. Stehrer: Manufacturing Productivity: Effects of Service Sector Innovations and Institutions. July 2012
No. 88	A. Breitwieser and N. Foster: Intellectual Property Rights, Innovation and Technology Transfer: A Survey. June 2012
No. 87	N. Foster: On the Volume and Variety of Intra-Bloc Trade in an Expanded European Union. June 2012
No. 86	N. Foster, R. Stehrer and G. de Vries: Offshoring and the Skill Structure of Labour Demand. June 2012
No. 85	M. Holzner and F. Peci: Measuring the Effects of Trade Liberalization in Kosovo. June 2012
No. 84	S. M. Leitner and R. Stehrer: Labour Hoarding during the Crisis: Evidence for selected New Member States from the Financial Crisis Survey. June 2012
No. 83	E. Bekkers and J. Francois: Bilateral Exchange Rates and Jobs. June 2012
No. 82	E. Bekkers, J. Francois and M. Manchin: Import Prices, Income, and Inequality. June 2012
No. 81	R. Stehrer: Trade in Value Added and the Valued Added in Trade. June 2012
No. 80	R. Stehrer, N. Foster and G. de Vries: International spillovers in a world of technology clubs. June 2012
No. 79	R. Stöllinger: International spillovers in a world of technology clubs. May 2012
No. 78	S. Leitner and R. Stehrer: Access to Finance and Composition of Funding during the Crisis: A firm-level analysis for Latin American countries. February 2012
No. 77	E. Bekkers and R. Stehrer: Reallocation Gains in a Specific Factors Model with Firm Heterogeneity. December 2011
No. 76	M. Holzner and F. Peci: The Impact of Customs Procedures on Business Performance: Evidence from Kosovo. August 2011
No. 75	C. Hornok: Need for Speed: Is Faster Trade in the EU Trade-Creating? April 2011
No. 74	S. Leitner and R. Stehrer: Subgroup and Shapley Value Decompositions of Multidimensional Inequality – An Application to Southeast European Countries. March 2011
No. 73	S. M. Leitner and R. Stehrer: Do Exporters Share Part of their Rents with their Employees? Evidence from Austrian Manufacturing Firms. February 2011
No. 72	S. M. Leitner, J. Pöschl and R. Stehrer: Change begets change: Employment effects of technological and non-technological innovations – A comparison across countries. January 2011
No. 71	M. Holzner: Inequality, Growth and Public Spending in Central, East and Southeast Europe. October 2010
No. 70	N. Foster, J. Pöschl and R. Stehrer: The Impact of Preferential Trade Agreements on the Margins of International Trade. September 2010
No. 69	L. Podkaminer: Discrepancies between Purchasing Power Parities and Exchange Rates under the Law of One Price: A Puzzle (partly) Explained? September 2010
No. 68	K. Hauzenberger and R. Stehrer: An Empirical Characterization of Redistribution Shocks and Output Dynamics. August 2010
No. 67	R. Stöllinger, R. Stehrer and J. Pöschl: Austrian Exporters: A Firm-Level Analysis. July 2010
No. 66	M. Holzner: Tourism and Economic Development: the Beach Disease? June 2010
No. 65	A. Bhaduri: A Contribution to the Theory of Financial Fragility and Crisis. May 2010
No. 64	L. Podkaminer: Why Are Goods Cheaper in Rich Countries? Beyond the Balassa-Samuelson Effect. April 2010
No. 63	K. Laski, J. Osiatynski and J. Zieba: The Government Expenditure Multiplier and its Estimates for Poland in 2006-2009. March 2010

Sandra M. Leitner is a research economist at the Vienna Institute for International Economic Studies (wiiw). Robert Stehrer is wiiw Deputy Director of Research. Sandra M. Leitner and Robert Stehrer

R&D and Non-R&D Innovators in the Financial Crisis: the Role of Binding Credit Constraints

Contents

Abst	ract	i
1.	Introduction	1
2.	Related literature - the role of access to financing for innovative activities	3
3.	Data	6
4.	Firm-level financing patterns	. 10
5.	Credit constraints and the propensity to innovate	. 13
6.	Summary and conclusion	. 21

References	24
Appendix	

List of Tables and Figures

External financing sources of working capital and fixed assets, disaggregated by particular source: 2005 and 2009	12
Probability of being an R&D or non-R&D innovator: 2005 and 2009	19
Probability of being credit constrained: 2005 and 2009	21
List of variables and definitions	26
Descriptive statistics for R&D innovators: 2005	27
Descriptive statistics for R&D innovators: 2009	27
Descriptive statistics for non-R&D innovators: 2005	27
Descriptive statistics for non-R&D innovators: 2009	28
Correlation matrix for R&D innovators: 2005	29
Correlation matrix for R&D innovators: 2009	29
Correlation matrix for non-R&D innovators: 2005	30
Correlation matrix for non-R&D innovators: 2009	30
	External financing sources of working capital and fixed assets, disaggregated by particular source: 2005 and 2009 Probability of being an R&D or non-R&D innovator: 2005 and 2009 Probability of being credit constrained: 2005 and 2009 List of variables and definitions Descriptive statistics for R&D innovators: 2005 Descriptive statistics for R&D innovators: 2009 Descriptive statistics for non-R&D innovators: 2005 Descriptive statistics for non-R&D innovators: 2009 Correlation matrix for R&D innovators: 2009

Figure 1	Frequency of R&D innovators and non-R&D innovators in manufacturing: 2005 and 2009	9
Figure 2	Frequency of reported credit constraints among manufacturing firms, by activity: 2005 and 2009	9
Figure 3	External versus internal financing sources of working capital and investment in fixed assets: 2005 and 2009	0

Abstract

In the course of tapping into external funding sources, innovators frequently encounter binding and insurmountable financing constraints, prompting them to discontinue, postpone or altogether abandon some of their innovative efforts, a key source of their growth and survival. This is even more so during economic crises, when profits collapse, internal resources dwindle and external sources risk drying up altogether. Against that backdrop, the analysis identifies the effects of prevailing credit constraints on innovative efforts of both formal R&D innovators as well as non-R&D innovators, which have mostly been neglected so far. It uses Latin America as its empirical platform and demonstrates that irrespective of the global financial crisis, which manoeuvred global financial markets on the verge of collapse, R&D innovators faced binding credit constraints while non-R&D innovators were unconstrained and remained unaffected by the crisis. In addition, there is no evidence that monetary policies aimed at stabilizing capital markets during the crisis had any noticeable alleviating effect on a firm's probability to pursue R&D-based innovative activities. It also shows that innovative efforts of R&D and non-R&D innovators were driven by entirely different firm characteristics, while, on the contrary, almost identical characteristics determined whether both types of innovators faced any credit constraints at all.

Keywords: credit constraints, R&D and non-R&D innovators, financial crisis, Latin America

JEL classification: C35, G01, G32, O31

Sandra M. Leitner and Robert Stehrer

R&D and non-R&D innovators in the financial crisis: the role of binding credit constraints

1. Introduction

It goes beyond mere speculation that R&D activities are one of the key engines of sustained economic growth and development which puts them high on the political agenda of all industrialized countries, and increasingly also, of developing countries. Thus, concerted efforts are taken and specific Science, Technology and Innovation (STI) policies are devised and implemented to strengthen nations' innovative potentials and technological capabilities and to foster the development and introduction of new or significantly improved products and/or processes at the level of the individual firm.

As inherently uncertain and risky activities, innovative activities absorb substantial resources without providing the slightest guarantee that any marketable invention will eventually materialize. In the face of insufficient own resources to fund innovative activities, entrepreneurs often see no alternative but to turn to the capital market to raise the muchneeded funds. Here, however, innovators often face insurmountable financing constraints: given innovators' reluctance to disclose sensitive information due to strong appropriability concerns compounded by the absence of efficient institutions which could provide crucial firm and project-specific information, the relationship between the debtor and potential outside investors is plagued by strong asymmetric information (Stiglitz and Weiss 1981) which leads to binding financing constraints. Moreover, the need to provide collateral in any credit transaction but the inability of R&D to act as viable collateral – due to its intangible nature may also give rise to non-negligible financing constraints (Brown et al. 2010). Hence, faced with insurmountable financing constraints, innovators may feel forced to postpone or altogether abandon their innovative projects, undermining any impetus towards growth and development.

However, the scale and effects of financing constraints tend to differ across groups of innovators. While recognized in innovation theory, academic research and STI policy alike have for the most part neglected the group of innovative firms that do not perform formal R&D. Specifically, a non-negligible share of firms is found to develop technological and non-technological innovations without carrying out any R&D: between 2004 and 2006, in Australia and Norway, the propensity to introduce a product innovation that is new to the market was similar whether or not formal R&D was performed (OECD 2010). Similarly, Arundel et al. (2008) analyse the Innobarometer of 2007 for all EU-27 member countries and demonstrate that slightly more than 50 percent of all innovative firms did not conduct any formal R&D. And even though innovative firms that do not perform R&D spend less on innovation, possess poorer innovative capabilities and are less likely to apply for or receive support from pubic innovation support programmes, they are not outperformed by innovative firms with formal R&D activities (in terms of a reported change in revenues). And based on micro-aggregated data from the third Community Innovation Survey, Huang et al. (2008) highlight that innovators without formal R&D are more likely to be smaller in size, less likely to be exporters and are short of highly-educated employees (with university education). Moreover, they are less likely to be product innovators or to resort to patenting to protect their innovations. Finally, innovators without formal R&D more strongly rely on suppliers and competitors as vital sources of information. Put together, the specific characteristics of non-R&D innovators together with the particular nature of R&D activities they pursue in terms of riskiness, scale or objective and the significantly lower appropriability issues that arise, non-R&D innovators are expected to face lower and less binding financing constraints than their R&D-based counterparts.

Moreover, in addition to binding financing constraints, both R&D as well as non-R&D based innovative activities of firms also sensitively respond to changes in economic conditions and environments they operate in. Specifically, the recent global financial crisis, which had a strong but short-lived effect on most economies, robbed many entrepreneurs of the financial means to further pursue any innovative activities, as global and local demand faltered, sales collapsed and internal resources quickly melted away. Bereft of internal funds to dispose of, innovators may feel forced to discontinue their innovative activities until recovery sets it. However, R&D and non-R&D innovators may respond differently to the crisis. Given the significantly higher financial requirements of formal R&D, R&D innovators may feel forced to discontinue some of their innovative activities. On the contrary, significantly lower cost of R&D allows non-R&D innovators to more flexibly adjust their innovative activities to changing outside conditions.

Against that backdrop, the ensuing analysis seeks to shed light on i) the presence and effects of binding credit constraints as well as on ii) the effects of the global financial crisis on innovative activities of firms. It uses data for a large group of Latin American countries that were collected as part of the World Bank Enterprise Survey (WBES) component of the Latin American and Caribbean (LAC) Enterprise Surveys 2006 and 2010. As such, the study's contributions to the ongoing discussion are manifold: firstly, it provides first evidence on the differential role of credit constraints for both R&D as well as non-R&D innovators, a distinction that has so far been neglected in the literature. Secondly, it explicitly accounts for the effect of the global financial crisis on both R&D and non-R&D innovators. Finally, it takes Latin America as its empirical platform and is therefore able to contribute to the discussion on a quickly developing and technologically vastly improving geographic region that has so far been under-researched in this line of literature.

Methodologically, a recursive bivariate probit approach with endogenous credit constraints is applied. Empirical findings point at fundamental differences between R&D and non-R&D

innovators: Firstly, irrespective of the crisis, R&D innovators faced binding credit constraints while non-R&D innovators, whose R&D activities are less resource-intensive and risky and more likely the result of learning-by-doing dynamics, remained unrestricted by credit constraints and unaffected by tighter credit markets during the crisis. Secondly, innovative efforts of R&D and non-R&D innovators were driven by entirely different firm characteristics: for R&D innovators, there is strong evidence in favour of Schumpeter's 'sizeinnovation' hypothesis while his 'competition-curbs-innovation' hypothesis finds little empirical support. And while group-membership and international trading status proved conducive to formal R&D efforts, probably due to insufficient indigenous technological capabilities and the still mainly home country based nature of R&D, formal R&D efforts were less likely among majority foreign-owned firms which therefore mainly serve as production entities. In contrast, the probabilities of performing non-R&D-based innovative activities was higher among majority foreign-owned or (resource-deficient) smaller firms but lower among firms that both export and import, firms that faced minor product market competition, firms that were part of a group or firms whose business activities were affected by informal sector practices.

Moreover, empirical findings also reveal that very similar firm characteristics determine whether either R&D or non-R&D innovators face binding credit constraints. Specifically, irrespective of the type of innovator, the probability of being credit constrained was lower among larger firms, exporters, firms with higher internal funds or firms with a longer-standing creditor-debtor relationship with banks but higher among firms which experienced rampant corruption.

The remainder of the paper is structured as follows: section 2 discusses related empirical evidence on the role of financing constraints on firm-level innovative activities, while section 3 provides an overview and description of the data used in the ensuing analysis. A general picture of prevailing firm-level funding patterns of working capital and fixed asset investment is drawn in section 4, both before as well as during the crisis of 2009. As such, it throws light on the relative importance of internal versus external financing sources and the role of the banking sector in providing external funds. Both, empirical methodology and results are presented and discussed in depth in section 5. Finally, section 6 concludes.

2. Related literature – the role of access to financing for innovative activities

Starting with the influential paper by Fazzari, Hubbard, and Petersen (1988), it has become a dominant procedure to divide samples of firms according to *a priory* measures of financing constraints and analyse and compare emerging investment-cash flow sensitivities across sub-samples. Greater investment-cash flow sensitivities were then interpreted as evidence of stronger financing constraints. In essence, Fazzari et al. (1988) argued that retention practices like low dividend payments are reflective of the cost of external finance firms face: if internal cash flow is insufficient to fully finance planned investment projects, firms may have to resort to paying low dividends to retain the lion's share of their income. And if external financing is costly, the sensitivity of investment to cash flow should therefore be highest among high-retention firms. However, this approach was heavily criticized by Kaplan and Zingales (1997, 2000) who cast serious doubt on the fundamental underlying assumption that investment-cash flow sensitivities increase monotonically with the degree of financing constraints (Kaplan and Zingales 1997) and stress that investment-cash flow sensitivities are bad indicators of financing constraints (Kaplan and Zingales 2000).

More recently, however, the availability of new and better data which allows to more directly measure the presence of financing constraints gave fresh impetus to and revived the discussion as to the presence and effects of financing constraints on firm investment behaviour. Generally, a burgeoning empirical literature finds consistent evidence that prevailing financing constraints act as strong deterrents to R&D activities of firms. In that respect, Mancusi and Vezzulli (2010) use the 2004 Capitalia survey on Italian manufacturing firms to analyse the effects of financing constraints both, on the decision to conduct R&D as well as on the level of R&D investment. They apply a recursive bivariate probit approach and find that the presence of financing constraints reduces the probability of doing R&D by around 23 percent. Similar negative effects are found by Männasoo and Meriküll (2011) for a diverse set of developed and transition economies covered in the Business Environment and Enterprise Performance survey (BEEPs). They find an around 70 percentage points lower probability that credit-constrained firms conduct R&D. Similarly, Hajivassilou and Savignac (2008) identify and shed light on prevailing direct as well as reverse effects between financing constraints and innovation. They apply a simultaneous bivariate probit framework with mutual endogeneity of financial constraints and innovation decisions of firms and demonstrate that binding financing constraints curtail innovation and that, simultaneously, probably due to the higher uncertainty and riskiness innovators face, innovative firms more likely encounter binding financing constraints. Mohnen et al. (2008) use the Dutch CIS 3.5 and study the effects of financing constraints on the probability to abandon, prematurely stop, seriously slow down, or not start an innovative project. They point at the high prevalence of diverse obstacles to innovative activities and report that almost every third innovative or potentially innovative firm in their sample felt hampered by one or another factor. They find supportive evidence that prevailing financing constraints significantly increased the probabilities of prematurely stopping, seriously slowing down or not starting any innovative project while no such effect emerged for altogether abandoning an innovative project. Moreover, they stress that prevailing financial constraints tend to reinforce (or, conversely, are reinforced) by other hampering constraints which further increases the likelihood to abandoning, seriously slowing down or not starting innovative projects. Finally, comparable empirical evidence in a developing-country setting is provided by Alvarez and Crespi (2011) who study around 10.000 Chilean firms in 2007 and find conclusive evidence that innovative activities are less likely among financially constrained firms.

In addition, specific firm characteristics are found to be pivotal to a firm's decision to perform R&D and exert innovative efforts. As such, firm size emerges as key determinant such that smaller firms (that are also more financially constrained) show a significantly lower probability to perform R&D (Mancusi and Vezzulli 2011; Hajivassilou and Savignac 2008 or Männasoo and Meriküll 2011). However, the study by Álvarez and Crespi (2011) also highlights that the size-effect is not a universal phenomenon. In addition, the likelihood to conduct R&D is also critically associated with firm-ownership: as an indication of prevailing centralization strategies of R&D activities, heads of firm-groups have a higher probability to perform R&D (Mancusi and Vezzulli 2011) while foreign-ownership matters little only (Mancusi and Vezzulli 2011; Männasoo and Meriküll 2011). Empirical evidence also points at a prevailing complementarity between R&D efforts and tangible investment activities (Mancusi and Vezzulli 2011), rejects Schumpter's (1934) negative competition-innovation nexus which highlights that since competition lowers the expected return from R&D, it tends to curb R&D efforts (Hajivassilou and Savignac 2008) or corroborates that exporters, firms with a more educated and skilled workforce or firms that receive public subsidies show a higher probability to conduct R&D (Männasoo and Meriküll 2011). Furthermore, the probability to perform R&D is also found to be inversely related to (the expected increase in) sales of firms (Álvarez and Crespi 2011; Männasoo and Meriküll 2011).

In addition, consistent evidence is quickly mounting that binding and restrictive financing constraints are unique to firms with very specific characteristics. In particular, there has been a long-standing debate on whether larger firms which their superior abilities to generate internal funds tend to face lower financing constraints. However, empirical evidence appears to suggest that the presence of financing constraints is independent of firm size, at least in a developed-country context (e.g. Mancusi and Vezzulli 2011; Hajivassilou and Savignac 2008). In contrast, Álvarez and Crespi (2011) in their study on Chilean firms support the negative size-constraint nexus and stress that larger firms are less likely to be financially constrained. Moreover, there is some indication that business-group affiliation is associated with lower financing constraints since firms that are part of a business group are less dependent on external financing but alternatively may tap into internal capital markets and draw from internal group cash-flows and funds to finance their daily business operations as well as tangible fixed-asset and intangible R&D investment projects (Álvarez and Crespi 2011). In addition, the available level of collateral – typically proxied by tangible assets - turns out to negatively affect the probability of being financially constrained (see e.g. Alvarez and Crespi 2011 or Mancusi and Vezzulli 2011). Since banks usually resort to physical assets to secure their loans or credits, asset-rich firms have more disposable means for banks to fall back on which renders them less risky but more attractive debtors. There is also evidence that firms which lack any alternative internal sources but strongly depend on external funds to finance their operations or projects are more likely to be financially constrained (Mancusi and Vezzulli 2011). Mancusi and Vezzulli (2011) also point at the potentially critical role of regionally differing credit or capital markets. They highlight that probably due to inferior credit markets in the south or centre of Italy, firms located in these regions face a higher probability of being credit constrained than their counterparts located in the more developed and industrialized north.

3. Data

The ensuing analysis applies data for a set of Latin American countries comprising Argentina, Bolivia, Chile, Colombia, Ecuador, Guatemala, Honduras, Mexico, Nicaragua, Panama, Peru, Paraguay, El Salvador, Uruguay and Venezuela that were collected as part of the World Bank Enterprise Survey (WBES) component of the Latin American and Caribbean (LAC) Enterprise Surveys 2006 and 2010.¹ The surveys were conducted during the calendar years 2006 and 2007 as well as 2010 and 2011, respectively, but refer to the last complete fiscal years, that is 2005 for WBES-2006 and 2009 for WBES-2010. Generally, Enterprise Surveys have been conducted regularly since 2002 by means of face-to-face interviews with the manager, owner or director of establishments on a 3 to 4-year rotation with the objective of collecting information about individual firms' business environment, how it is perceived by them, how it changes over time, about various constraints or obstacles to firm performance and growth or the effects a country's business environment on its international competitiveness. Its focus is on private business activities so that establishments with 100 percent state ownership are excluded from the survey.

To obtain unbiased estimates and to guarantee that the final sample covers establishments from all different sectors, each country-sample was selected using random sampling, stratified by size (into small with 5-19 employees, medium-sized with 20-99 employees and large with more than 99 employees), region (of major economic activity) and industry classification. From a sectoral perspective, all manufacturing sectors (group D), construction (group F), services (groups G and H), transport, storage, and communications (group I) and IT (from group K) are covered (based on the ISIC revision 3.1 classification). The primary sampling unit of each survey was the establishment with five or more full-time employees, located in major urban centres, which engaged in non-agricultural activities. Moreover, given the harmonization of sampling strategies and the comparability of survey instruments used in collecting the data, survey data from different countries are comparable.

Data are collected based on three different questionnaires. As the basic version, the Core Questionnaire includes all common questions asked to all establishments from all sectors. Moreover, the Manufacturing Questionnaire as well as the Service Questionnaire are built

Officially available panel data are used except for Honduras, Mexico and Nicaragua for which data on individual survey waves were matched by means of constant panel identifiers. Belize, Brazil, Suriname and Guyana were excluded from the analysis since data are available for 2010 only, while Costa Rica was excluded due to incompatibility of data across survey waves

upon the Core Questionnaire but add some specific questions relevant to the respective sectors. The subsequent analysis uses data stemming from the Manufacturing Questionnaire only which covers, in more detail, information on innovative efforts and performance of firms, the strategies they pursue to protect their innovations as well as on the competitive business environment they operate in.

All in all, 10,930 firms were covered by the WBES-2006 and 9,536 firms by the follow-up WBES-2010. A total of 3,426 firms were covered in both surveys, of which 2,242 manufacturing firms are subject of the ensuing analysis. Around 37 percent of all manufacturing firms analysed are either micro or small firms with up to 19 employees, 40 percent are medium-sized with between 20 and 99 employees while the remaining 23 percent are large firms with more than 99 employees. Around 13 percent of all manufacturing firms are part of a larger firm while only around 8 percent are majority foreign-owned or young. Finally, in terms of trading status, around 8 percent are exporters only, around 25 percent are importers only while another 10 percent are both exporters and importers. The remaining 57 percent of all manufacturing firms have no international trade relations but cater to domestic markets only.

The ensuing analysis seeks to shed light on the effects of prevailing credit constraints on innovative activities of firms. To account for the often neglected but non-negligible role of innovators that do not perform R&D, two different groups of innovators are identified and analysed: so called *R&D innovators* which assigned resources to R&D development activities performed in-house as well as *non-R&D innovators* which did not perform any R&D but still introduced any new or significantly improved products (goods or services) and/or processes (for producing or supplying products) over the last three years.

The analysis uses a self-reported credit-constraint indicator (*fconstr_{ik}*) to identify whether and to what extent financing constraints affected the probability of being either an R&D innovator or a non-R&D innovator, both before and during the global financial crisis of 2009. Specifically, firms are considered to be credit constrained (*fconstr_{ik}* = 1) if they did not apply for loans or lines of credit since either i) application procedures were considered too complex, ii) interest rates were considered too unfavourable, iii) collateral requirements were unattainable, iv) the size of the loan and maturity were insufficient, v) they did not think the credit line would have been approved, or vi) due to other reasons not specified in the survey. In contrast, *fconstr_i* = 0 if the establishment successfully applied for a line of credit or loan (as reference group). This approach is in contrast to Beck et al. (2008) which use a broader Likert-scale based constraint indicator, reflecting whether financing obstacles affected the operation and growth of firms. On the contrary, against the backdrop of globally collapsing capital markets and an alarming drying up of credits markets during the financial crisis, the following analysis explicitly focuses on the role of banks for firm-level innovative activities, before as well as during the global financial crisis. Following the bank-

ruptcy of Lehman Brothers in September 2008, Latin America got quickly drawn into the vortex of the crisis which spread swiftly like wildfire. And while the real economy stumbled, no Latin American economy experienced a financial crisis since, thanks to profound central bank and financial market reforms of the 1990s, the region entered the crisis with solid financial fundamentals. In addition, in the face of the crisis, monetary policies were implemented that helped weather the fierce storms that swept through global financial markets and banking sectors: most Latin American central banks implemented monetary easing policies to stimulate investments and pave the way for an early and quick recovery, some also provided foreign currency liquidity to the private sector in the form of foreign exchange spot, repo and swap transactions to avoid any disruptions on foreign exchange markets and to make external financing available (Winograd and Brei 2009) while others (in Brazil, Peru and Colombia) significantly reduced their (marginal) reserve requirements to mobilize extra capital for additional bank loans (Jara et al. 2009). Overall, the monetary policy mix was effective since, relative to emerging market economies in Europe, the decline in bank credits in Central and South American emerging market economies was moderate (Guo and Stepanyan 2011).

As a starting point, Figure 1 depicts frequencies of R&D and non-R&D innovators in the sample before as well as during the crisis. It highlights that between 2005 and 2009, the frequency of R&D innovators increased slightly: of all 2,242 manufacturing firms, 747 firms (or 33 percent) spent on in-house R&D in 2005 relative to 908 firms (or 40 percent) in 2009. In contrast, the number of non-R&D innovators declined between 2005 and 2009: in 2005, 676 firms (or 30 percent) introduced a new product and/or process without performing any R&D compared to only 528 firms (or 24 percent) in 2009. Hence, there is some indication that firm-level activities that entail lower fixed costs, like activities of non-R&D performers, may more easily be discontinued or postponed once external conditions worsen and demand plunges. In contrast, due to the generally high fixed costs of R&D, entrepreneurs are less likely to discontinue their R&D activities.

Furthermore, the frequency of credit constraints by firm-level activity is depicted in Figure 2 both for the pre-crisis year of 2005 as well as the crisis-year of 2009. It points at the presence of non-negligible credit constraints among manufacturing firms and shows that both in 2005 and 2009, around one fifth of all firms in the manufacturing sector faced credit constraints. Additionally, it stresses that the number of R&D innovators and non-R&D innovators is lower among firms that face credit constraints: the frequency of either R&D innovators or non-R&D innovators is around 30 to 40 percent lower among firms that face credit constraints. Finally, Figure 2 highlights that between 2005 and 2009, the frequency of R&D innovators with credit constraints remained unchanged while the frequency of non-R&D innovators with credit constraints slightly decreased.





Note: R&D innovators is a dummy variable with is equal to 1 if the firm reported non-negative R&D expenditure and 0 otherwise. *Non-R&D innovators* is a dummy variable which is 1 if the firm did not perform any R&D but still introduced any new or significantly improved product and/or process and 0 otherwise. Data stem from the WBES component of the Latin American and Caribbean (LAC) Enterprise Surveys 2006 and 2010.

Figure 2



Frequency of reported credit constraints among manufacturing firms, by activity: 2005 and 2009

Note: The left-hand panel depicts *R&D innovators* (=1 if the firm reported non-negative *R&D* expenditure) and non-innovators (=0, otherwise) while the right-hand panel depicts *non-R&D innovators* (=1 if the firm did not perform any *R&D* but still introduced any new or significantly improved product and/or process) and non-innovators (=0 otherwise). Firms face credit constraints if, in a particular year, they did not apply for a line of credit or loan due to one of the following 6 reasons: i) the application procedure was too complex, ii) interest rates were unfavourable, iii) collateral requirements were too high, iv) size of loan and maturity were insufficient, v) the entrepreneur did not think that loan would have been approved, and vi) other (unspecified) reasons. No credit constraint prevailed if, due to sufficient capital, the firm did not apply for a loan. Data stem from the WBES component of the Latin American and Caribbean (LAC) Enterprise Surveys 2006 and 2010.

4. Firm-level financing patterns

Figure 3

To shed light on the relative importance of internal and external financing sources before as well as during the crisis, Figure 3 depicts average firm-level financing patterns for each



External versus internal financing sources of working capital and investment in fixed assets: 2005 and 2009

country included in the overall country sample. It captures firm financing of either working capital as an indicator of operating liquidity or of fixed assets like machinery, vehicles, equipment, land or buildings as the proportion of working capital or fixed assets that was financed from different sources like: internal funds or retained earnings as internal sources or private or state-owned banks, non-bank financial institutions, purchased on credit from suppliers and advances from customers as well as rest (comprising family and friends, informal sources, issued new debt/equity to finance fixed-asset investment) as external sources.

Figure 3 highlights that prior to the crisis, with very few exceptions only (Colombia, Ecuador and Peru), working capital was predominantly financed through internal sources, with Venezuela, Mexico, Uruguay, Guatemala and Argentina most reliant on internal sources. The overall dominance of and reliance on internal financing hardly changed once the crisis hit in 2009. In the course of the crisis, external financing became more widespread in the majority of countries (however, in Panama, external firm-level financing collapsed and more than halved from around 36 percent in 2005 to only 11 percent in 2009, while comparatively minor reductions occurred in Honduras, Nicaragua, Bolivia, Ecuador and Chile). However, internal funds remained the major financing source except for firms located in Peru, Colombia, Ecuador as well as El Salvador. From initially 17 percent in 2005 to around 42 percent in 2009, the shift towards external financing was most pronounced in Venezuela.

These working capital financing patterns are replicated for fixed assets, for which internal financing sources dominated prior to the crisis as well as during the crisis (except for Colombia and Peru), but whose investment activities were to a higher degree financed by external sources during the crisis. The only exceptions were Panama, where, once the crisis struck, the purchase of fixed assets became almost exclusively financed by internal sources (from around 60 percent in 2005 to 89 percent in 2009), Nicaragua and Ecuador.

In addition, to identify the most important external financing sources and to throw light on the role of the banking sector in providing external funds, the pooled external financing sources of either working capital or fixed asset investment are disaggregated by particular external financing source and presented in Table 1 for 2005 and 2009. It shows that before the crisis, banks dominated external financing sources of working capital in the majority of countries considered while purchases on credit from suppliers and advances from customers represented the second most important external financing source, particularly for firms located in Argentina, Ecuador, Guatemala, Mexico, Paraguay and Uruguay. However, with the onset of the crisis, bank financing lost its dominant role to purchases on credit from suppliers and advances from customers in the majority of economies: firms located in Honduras, Nicaragua, Panama and Peru still drew about half of all external sources from

	Working capital supplier					Fixed capital investments supplier/						
Country	Year	external	Banks	non-banks	/customer	other	external	Banks	non-banks	customer	new equity	other
Argentina	2005	32.9	8.8	1.2	19.5	3.4	31.0	5.3	2.8	4.7	1.0	17.2
Argentina	2009	42.1	12.0	1.1	26.8	2.1	38.6	19.7	1.6	12.3	3.7	1.3
Bolivia	2005	41.2	19.5	1.6	12.7	7.3	33.2	20.6	1.0	4.5	1.4	5.7
Bolivia	2009	37.9	16.7	2.1	16.0	3.1	35.8	17.0	2.6	6.7	7.6	1.9
Chile	2005	45.7	25.3	1.1	15.8	3.4	44.1	30.2	1.5	7.4	1.8	3.3
Chile	2009	45.6	19.5	1.6	22.6	1.8	44.7	29.2	1.9	9.3	2.7	1.6
Colombia	2005	53.4	23.2	1.2	21.3	7.7	52.6	33.6	4.4	7.8	0.5	6.3
Colombia	2009	61.7	20.8	1.4	35.3	4.1	56.7	33.1	4.5	11.9	4.2	2.9
Ecuador	2005	51.3	18.5	0.6	24.3	7.7	50.0	26.8	1.7	14.2	0.7	6.7
Ecuador	2009	50.5	18.7	1.5	26.7	3.7	49.0	20.0	3.9	12.0	7.9	5.2
El Salvador	2005	45.3	23.3	1.3	12.7	8.1	46.7	30.6	1.6	9.1	1.1	4.3
El Salvador	2009	53.3	22.0	2.1	25.2	4.0	48.7	23.9	2.7	15.1	4.4	2.7
Guatemala	2005	36.2	12.6	1.0	16.8	5.8	37.0	20.8	2.4	8.9	0.8	4.1
Guatemala	2009	39.1	10.7	1.8	23.7	2.9	42.7	20.0	4.6	12.6	3.1	2.4
Honduras	2005	35.5	19.9	1.6	9.5	4.5	38.0	14.9	2.5	4.0	0.5	16.1
Honduras	2009	31.4	16.6	1.4	10.7	2.7	42.2	24.1	1.1	5.6	7.4	4.0
Mexico	2005	23.0	2.7	0.5	14.0	5.7	27.0	7.5	0.6	12.1	0.3	6.4
Mexico	2009	38.5	9.3	1.4	24.9	3.0	38.3	12.5	3.2	16.3	4.0	2.2
Nicaragua	2005	33.5	14.0	3.6	11.1	4.9	37.5	22.5	2.4	3.3	0.5	8.7
Nicaragua	2009	23.6	12.1	0.8	9.9	0.8	29.3	22.7	1.0	1.8	2.5	1.3
Panama	2005	36.2	22.7	0.5	9.2	3.7	39.6	28.6	0.4	5.8	0.3	4.5
Panama	2009	11.5	4.0	2.0	3.8	1.7	11.2	3.6	0.0	2.6	4.8	0.2
Peru	2005	53.5	27.7	0.9	19.3	5.6	55.1	41.1	0.6	9.2	0.6	3.5
Peru	2009	58.6	29.6	2.3	23.8	2.9	63.0	46.7	2.0	8.2	4.1	2.0
Paraguay	2005	32.9	9.2	4.2	13.7	5.5	30.9	8.9	4.2	10.7	1.4	5.7
Paraguay	2009	38.2	16.5	3.9	16.0	1.8	41.1	21.3	4.9	10.8	2.3	1.8
Uruguay	2005	28.0	7.8	0.4	15.3	4.4	25.8	14.1	1.4	5.5	0.2	4.5
Uruguay	2009	32.2	8.6	1.0	20.7	1.9	29.2	17.5	1.3	5.9	3.2	1.4
Venezuela	2005	16.8	13.1	0.7		2.9	33.1	24.4	1.5		3.8	3.4
Venezuela	2009	41.9	14.6	1.7	23.5	2.0	44.0	20.3	1.8	16.5	4.8	0.6

External financing sources of working capital and fixed assets, disaggregated by particular source: 2005 and 2009

Note: average source per country; external is the sum of the following sources: banks, non-banks, suppliers/customers and other (like moneylenders, friends, relatives etc.). For Venezuela, suppliers/customers and other are grouped together for 2005.

Source: own calculations (WBES)

Table 1

private or state-owned banks. A somewhat different picture emerges for fixed asset investment: except for Argentina, where external sources predominantly stemmed from other sources, or Mexico and Paraguay, where supplier and customers represented the most important external funding source, banks were the single most important external financing source in 2005. Moreover, once the crisis struck, even though purchases on credit from suppliers and advances from customers gained importance, banks remained the dominant external financing source, except for Panama, where fixed asset investments were mainly financed through the issuance of new equity. Additionally, across all countries considered, the reliance on banks as external financing sources was strongest in Peru, where around 80 percent of external funds were drawn from banks, both, before as well as during the crisis.

Unfortunately, no information is available on financing patterns and strategies of more resource intensive and riskier R&D activities. However, above analysis of financing patterns may imply that somewhat similar financing strategies were also applied for innovative activities, namely i) mainly internal funds, with ii) a non-negligible but crisis-related declining role of the banking sector as an external financing source.

5. Credit constraints and the propensity to innovate

To identify whether and to what extent credit constraints affected the probability of being either an R&D innovator or a non-R&D innovator, a recursive bivariate probit model with endogenous credit constraints is applied. The potential endogeneity of the credit constraint indicator stems from two different sources: firstly, latent heterogeneous factors (like entrepreneurial behaviour) may affect both the probability of being credit constrained and the probability of being an innovator, and secondly, the decision to pursue innovative activities and how to finance them (that is by means of internal or external sources) may be simultaneous.

The recursive system is specified as follows where equation (1) is the outcome equation that explains the probability that a firm is an innovator while equation (2) is the structural equation that specifies the probability that a firm is credit constrained:

$$I_{tk} = \alpha_1 fconstr_{tk} + \mathbf{x}_{tk} \mathbf{\beta}' + e_{tk}$$
(1)

$$fconstr_{tk} = \mathbf{y}_{tk}\mathbf{\theta}' + u_{tk}, \tag{2}$$

where I_{tk}^{*} and $fconstr_{tk}^{*}$ are latent variables, while I_{tk} and $fconstr_{tk}$ are dichotomous variables defined as follows:

$$I_{tk} = 1$$
 if $I_{tk} > 0$ and $I_{tk} = 0$, otherwise and

 $fconstr_{tk} = 1$ if $fconstr_{tk}^* > 0$ and $fconstr_{tk} = 0$, otherwise

 I_{tk} is a binary variable that is 1 if at time t = 2005 or 2009 establishment k reported innovative activities and 0 otherwise. Two different types of innovative activities are differentiated: *formal R&D activities* performed in-house ($I_{tk} = FINNOV_{tk}$) on the one hand or *non-formal, non-R&D-based activities* that do not involve any R&D expenditure but still result in new or modified products and/or processes ($I_{tk} = NFINNOV_{tk}$) on the other. Moreover, *fconstr_{tk}* is the self-reported credit-constraint indicator specified and discussed above.

For the purpose of identification, the error terms are assumed to be independently and identically distributed as bivariate normal as follows:

 $\begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{e}_{tk} \\ u_{tk} \end{pmatrix} \sim IID \left(\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{0} \\ \mathbf{0} \end{bmatrix}, \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{1} & \rho \\ \rho & \mathbf{1} \end{bmatrix} \right)$

where $\rho = Cov(e_{tk}, u_{tk})$.

 \mathbf{x}_{tk} is a vector of the following characteristics: following Schumpeter's (1942) seminal work a lively debate has erupted concerning the role of firm size for firm innovative activities. Since then, various hypotheses have been suggested supporting Schumpeter's proposition that larger firms are more innovative than smaller ones. In that respect, prevailing capital market imperfections may favour larger firms and their superior capabilities to generate internal funds. Specifically, in light of capital market imperfections, smaller firms face restrictive barriers to essential financial resources while larger firms may still be able to fund their R&D projects from internal funds. Alternatively, Cohen and Klepper (1996) develop a *cost-spreading* argument and emphasize that since appropriability conditions confine firms to exploiting their innovations predominantly through their own output, large firms can typically average the fixed costs of R&D over a greater level of output so that R&D efforts tend to increase with output and firm size. While findings are diverse, a positive relationship between firm size and R&D effort is found by Pavitt et al. (1987) while Crépon et al. (1998) highlight that the probability of engaging in research increases with firm size. Firm size is included as dummy variables for either medium-sized firms (with between 20 to 99 employees) or large firms with more than 99 employees. The group of micro and small firms with up to 19 employees represents the reference group.

As emphasized by Arrow (1962), firm performance tends to improve with **age** since firms become more efficient over time as learning-by-doing effects materialize and new products emerge or processes become more routinized, standardized and cost-efficient. In contrast, performance may deteriorate with age: as argued by Agarwal and Gort (1996 and 2002), age may render knowledge and skills obsolete as successful routines permanently permeate the firm's organization, rendering it inflexible and rigid and unresponsive to frequently

changing market conditions in terms of competition or demand. Supportive evidence of the latter organizational-rigidity hypothesis is provided by Loderer and Waelchli (2010) who demonstrate that R&D activities experience a relative decline as firms mature and grow older. Moreover, the probability of being an innovator may be higher among younger firms: specifically, as emphasized by Schumpeter (1934), new entrants are vital sources of novel and technologically superior products and processes so that younger firms are more likely to be innovators also. To account for the role of age, a dummy variable is included with is equal to one if, prior to the crisis, the firm was younger than 4 years old and zero otherwise.

Moreover, thanks to easier access to knowledge, human resources and internal funds² together with more effective and widespread risk-diversification strategies, R&D efforts may be higher among both, firms that are part of a group as well as foreign-owned firms. Empirical evidence seems to consistently point at the opposite, however: compared to their domestic counterparts, foreign-owned firms tend to be characterized by lower R&D intensities since the lion's share of innovative activities is still undertaken in their home countries (see e.g. Griffith et al. 2004 or Falk and Falk 2006). Moreover, empirical evidence on the propensity to innovate is mixed and inconclusive. Balcet and Evangelista (2005) find that the propensity to innovate is relatively high among foreign affiliates in Italy (a finding that is to a great degree explained by the size and over-representation of foreign affiliates in science-based industries), while Falk (2008) emphasizes that the higher propensity to innovate observable among foreign-owned firms is mainly due to differences in firm characteristics (particularly size). Frenz and letto-Gillies (2007) demonstrate that while the propensity to innovate is not higher among firms that are part of a group, the positive impact on the propensity to innovate observable among UK-based MNCs predominantly stems from multinationality per se and not from foreignness. In contrast, no significant differences in the propensities to innovate are found by Johansson et al. (2008) in a study on four Nordic countries or Dachs and Ebersberger (2009) in a study on Austria. A dummy variable is included which is one for firms that are part of a larger firm and zero otherwise. Additionally, a dummy variable is included which is one for majority foreign-owned firms (with more than 50 percent owned by private foreign individuals, companies or organizations) and zero otherwise.

In addition, firms which move on the international stage and trade products and/or services internationally and consequently face fiercer and more merciless competition may be more inclined to continuously invest in R&D to maintain or gain a leading edge over their competitors and to survive and thrive. Moreover, **internationally trading firms** also benefit from their exposure to international technology and the ensuing technology transfer that

² Specifically, as emphasized by Shin and Park (1999) and confirmed by Beck et al. (2006), business-group affiliation is associated with lower funding obstacles, while Schiantarelli and Sembenelli (2000) and Beck et al. (2006) demonstrate that foreign-owned firms indeed enjoy easier access to funds.

may take place. Aw et al. (2007) provide evidence for the Taiwanese electronics industry that exporters that also invest in R&D expand their knowledge bases and accumulate technological capabilities that help them assimilate and utilize new foreign technologies. Related to that, foreign capital goods markets are vital sources for productivity-enhancing leading-edge machinery and equipment, particularly for technologically lagging economies with underdeveloped or altogether lacking capital goods markets. Hence, all in all, internationally trading firms may have a higher propensity to innovate and, due to better information about the availability as well as access to foreign embodied and disembodied technology, may also exert higher R&D efforts. Instead of lumping internationally trading firms that are importers only and, firms that both export and import. Each trading status is captured by means of an individual dummy variable.

In his seminal work, Schumpeter (1934) advocated a negative relationship between **prod-uct market competition** on the one hand and R&D on the other since competition lowers the expected return from R&D and therefore decreases R&D efforts. On the contrary, Aghion and Howitt (1999) demonstrate how some model modifications result in a positive relationship between competition and R&D efforts. While empirical evidence is mixed and inconclusive, a postulated negative relationship is found by Horowitz (1962) or Gustavsson and Poldahl (2003) while, for a broad sample of developing countries, Ayyagari et al. (2007) finds that the propensity to innovate is higher, the higher the number of competitors. The survey asks respondents to indicate '*for the main market in which this establishment sold its main products, how many competitors did this establishment's main product/product line face? i) None* (taken as reference group), *ii) one, iii) two to five,* or *iv) more than five'*. Correspondingly, three individual dummy variables are included for each response option with none as the reference group:

In a similar vein, competitive pressures also emanate from the **informal sector**, which is often a substantial part of the economy, particularly in developing or emerging economies. And while informal sector establishments tend to spend less on R&D and be less R&D, they may avail of particular business practices that significantly improve their competitive position vis-à-vis formal sector establishments. These informal sector practices may spur R&D efforts if they result in higher competitiveness but may also curb such efforts if they prove detrimental to formal establishment performance. The role of informal sector practices of competitors in the informal sector were "no obstacle" (coded 0), a "minor obstacle" (coded 1), a "moderate obstacle" (coded 2), a "major obstacle" (coded 3) or a "very severe obstacle" (coded 4) to the current operations of the establishment.

Moreover, it goes beyond mere speculation that the endowment of firm-specific **human capital** is privotal to any R&D efforts. On the one hand, human capital is a key input into

any knowledge-intensive innovation process. For example, Janz et al. (2003) demonstrates that firms with higher human capital endowment (as proxied by the share of employees with a college or university degree) have a higher propensity to innovate. Hence, to account for the skill-bias in innovation activities, the non-production labour share as the ratio of non-production workers to production workers is included.

Finally, in the absence of any sector characteristics, a series of manufacturing sector dummies is included to account for sector-specific characteristics³ while country characteristics are captured by means of country dummies.

The credit constrained equation (2) controls for the following characteristics (included in the vector \mathbf{y}_{tk}): size, age, business-group affiliation and ownership (all as defined above), exporter status (dummy=1 if a firm earns more than 10 percent of its sales from exporting goods and services) to capture that given their riskier operations, exporters may face stronger constraints, the share of working capital financed by internal funds (as a proxy for the availability of internal funds), whether a firm already had a credit or loan (dummy) to capture that firms that already use external financing may face stronger constraints, whether corruption was an obstacle to current business operations (Likert-scale variable from 0 to 4 for 'no obstacle', 'minor obstacle', 'moderate obstacle', 'major obstacle' and 'very severe obstacle') to highlight that corruption may also spill over to the credit market. Again, country and industry dummies are included.

Table 2 presents results of the analysis for different samples. Columns (1) and (2) refer to the group of R&D innovators for 2005 and 2009 while columns (3) and (4) refer to the group of non-R&D innovators, again for 2005 and 2009, respectively.

Results in columns (1) and (3) highlight that, prior to as well as during the crisis, credit constraints posed substantial obstacles to the propensity of being an R&D innovator: firms that faced credit constraints had a 3.6 percent (before the crisis) and 1.8 percent (during the crisis) lower probability of performing any R&D. Generally, this is in line with similar analyses which find a strong and negative relationship between the presence of financing constraints and a firm's likelihood to conduct R&D (Álvarez and Crespi 2011; Hajivassilou and Savignac 2008; Mancusi and Vezzulli 2010; Männasoo and Meriküll 2011). However, the test on the equality of credit-constraint coefficients for 2005 and 2009 is not rejected (chi2(1)=0.26, p=0.6104), hence there is no evidence that the effects of binding credit constraints were significantly lower during the crisis. This suggests that monetary policies

³ Given the partly low number of observations per industry some industries were grouped together in homogenous groups: 15: Food products, 17-19: Textiles, garments and leather, 20-22: Wood products, paper products, publishing etc., 23-24: Chemicals and chemical products & coke, refined petroleum, 25: Rubber and plastic products, 26: Other non-metallic mineral products, 27-28: Basic metals, fabricated metal products, 29: Machinery and equipment n.e.c., 31-33: Electrical machinery & apparatus, medical, precision & optical instruments, 34-35: Motor vehicles, trailers and semi-trailers & other transport equipment, 36-37: Furniture, manufacturing n.e.c., recycling.

aimed at mobilizing extra capital for additional bank loans had no discernible *alleviating* effect on a firm's probability to pursue R&D-based innovative activities. In contrast, non-R&D innovators responded differently to prevailing credit constraints: non-R&D innovators remained unaffected by credit constraints, despite the crisis. Put together, there is evidence that during economically difficult and crisis-stricken times like the global financial crisis when local and global demand faltered, sales collapsed and firms had to more intensely resort to external sources to fund their resource-intensive innovative activities, R&D innovators faced binding credit constraints which barred them from accessing much-needed resources and forced them to discontinue their innovative efforts. In contrast, non-R&D innovators, whose innovative activities are less costly and resource intensive but more of a by-product of daily business operations and a result of learning-by-doing dynamics remained unrestricted by any credit constraints and unaffected by the crisis.

Moreover, the analysis identifies several firm characteristics that are pivotal to any R&Dbased or non-R&D-based innovative activities. In particular, probably due to richer and more comprehensive internal funds, before and during the crisis, the propensity to perform formal R&D was significantly higher among medium-sized firms (by around 2 percent) and large firms (by around 3 percent). Hence, for R&D innovators, there is evidence in favour of Schumpeter's size-R&D nexus. On the contrary, non-R&D based innovative activities appear to be in the domain of smaller and relatively resource-deficient firms.

Additionally, in times of crisis, younger firms tend to be more likely to pursue non-R&Dbased innovative activities.

The analysis also demonstrates that group membership and foreign ownership were of vital importance, with different effects though. Prior to the crisis, firms that were part of a group and had a higher probability of performing R&D-based innovative activities but a lower probability of performing non-R&D-based innovative activities. Hence, comparatively easy access to vital group-internal technical knowledge, human resources or funds is conducive to R&D-based innovative activities. However, for non-R&D innovators only, the crisis exerted an equalizing effect such that the probability of being a non-R&D innovator became independent of group membership. On the contrary, before the crisis, relative to their predominantly domestically-owned counterparts, majority foreign-owned firms were more likely to be innovative without performing any formal R&D (by 3.3 percent). In the face of the crisis, however, majority foreign-owned firms became less likely to perform non-R&Dbased innovative activities but remained more likely to perform R&D-based innovative efforts. This finding is in contrast to previous empirical evidence on the propensity to innovate in studies on different European countries and appears to suggest that possibly due to substantial risks and costs of decentralized R&D activities (in terms of a loss of control or of non-negligible coordination costs) paired with insufficient or poor indigenous technological capabilities, formal R&D-based innovative activities are still predominantly home-countrybased. Hence, as predominantly production-oriented entities with scarce or no resources for formal R&D, majority foreign-owned firms appear to rely on or resort to non-R&D-based innovative activities to develop new or significantly improved products and/or processes.

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
	(I) P&D	(~) R&D	(J)	(+) Non-P&D
Variables	innovator	innovator	innovator	innovator
Vallabies	2005	2009	2005	2009
Constant	-0.451**	-0.247	-0.348**	-0.375**
	(2.42)	(1.42)	(2.05)	(2.10)
Credit constrained (yes=1)	-0.605**	-0.426*	0.407	0.118
	(2.56)	(1.86)	(1.61)	(0.48)
Medium-sized (yes=1)	0.391***	0.434***	-0.182**	-0.148
	(4.23)	(4.75)	(2.13)	(1.64)
Large (yes=1)	0.784***	0.571***	-0.425***	-0.387***
	(5.85)	(4.75)	(3.31)	(3.07)
Young (yes=1)	-0.078	-0.077	0.091	0.288**
	(0.57)	(0.58)	(0.69)	(2.18)
Part of a group (yes=1)	0.261**	0.220*	-0.214*	-0.046
	(2.17)	(1.91)	(1.73)	(0.38)
Majority foreign-owned (yes=1)	-0.174	-0.274*	0.344**	0.308*
	(1.02)	(1.67)	(1.99)	(1.82)
Exporter only (yes=1)	0.315*	0.459**	-0.076	-0.059
	(1.76)	(2.52)	(0.42)	(0.31)
Importer only (yes=1)	0.312***	0.466***	-0.086	-0.161
	(3.29)	(4.96)	(0.89)	(1.63)
Exporter and importer (yes=1)	0.603***	0.747***	-0.456**	-0.361**
	(3.55)	(4.54)	(2.52)	(2.05)
Informal sector practices (Likert scale)	0.061**	0.091***	0.002	-0.041
	(2.15)	(2.97)	(0.06)	(1.30)
Competition: minor (yes=1)	0.397**	0.061	-0.761***	-0.447*
	(2.03)	(0.26)	(3.51)	(1.78)
Competition: moderate (yes=1)	-0.012	0.272	-0.147	-0.248
	(0.06)	(1.41)	(0.74)	(1.19)
Competition: strong (yes=1)	0.100	0.070	-0.004	0.016
	(1.24)	(0.87)	(0.05)	(0.20)
Non-production labour share	-0.042	-0.043	0.014	0.027
	(1.41)	(1.49)	(0.76)	(1.01)
Industry dummies	YES	YES	YES	YES
Country dummies	YES	YES	YES	YES
No of observations	1,361	1,397	1,360	1,398
Rho	0.475	0.237	-0.268	0.0495
Log likelihood	-1318.82	-1315.45	-1385.64	-1286.50

Probability of being an R&D or non-R&D innovator: 2005 and 2009

Table 2

Note: Robust z-statistics in parentheses, *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1. Columns (1) and (2) refer to the R&D innovators for 2005 and 2009, respectively, while columns (3) and (4) refer to non-R&D innovators for 2005 and 2009, respectively. Country and industry dummies are included in all regressions. Dependent variable: probability of being an R&D innovator or a non-R&D innovator.

Furthermore, there is supportive evidence that a firm's probability to innovate is affected by its trading status. Particularly, relative to their purely domestic counterparts, internationally

trading firms show a significantly higher probability of performing R&D-based innovative activities, irrespective of the crisis. A somewhat different picture emerges for non-R&D based innovative activities: firms that both exported and imported only were less likely to perform non-R&D based innovative activities, both before the crisis (by 1.7 percent) as well as during the crisis (by 1.2 percent). Overall, emerging patterns seem to suggest that internationally trading firms may have to perform costly adaptive R&D activities to adjust imported or to be exported consumer or producer goods to prevailing conditions (like specific consumer preferences or legal regulations) on the markets they cater to, costs which non-R&D innovators have severe difficulties shouldering.

The degree of competitive pressures firms face on their main product markets also affected their probability to innovate. In particular, contrary to Schumpeter's 'competitioncurbs-R&D'-hypothesis but in line with findings by Ayyagari et al. (2007), firms are found to be more likely to pursue R&D-based innovative activities, at least until the crisis set in: prior to the crisis, competition encouraged formal R&D efforts such that firms which operated on product markets with *minor* competition only had a 2 percent higher probability of performing R&D-based innovative activities. With the crisis, however, formal R&D efforts became independent of the degree of product market competition, disrupting any previous competition-R&D nexus. On the contrary, product market competition turns out to be detrimental to non-R&D based innovative activities: irrespective of the crisis, firms showed a lower probability to innovate without performing any formal R&D on product markets with *minor* competition only.

Similarly, firms also responded differently to practices of competitors in the informal sector. Particularly, irrespective of the crisis, firms were more likely to perform R&D-based innovate activities if informal sector practices were more of an obstacle to their current business operations. Hence, innovative efforts may be exerted to gain a competitive edge over firms in the informal sector and to guarantee firm survival and growth. On the contrary, informal sector practices had no significant effect non-R&D based innovative activities, both before as well as during the crisis.

Finally, the endowment with human capital played no role for the propensity to innovate.

Moreover, Table 3 presents results on the probabilities of being credit constrained (equation (2) above) for each of the four specifications in Table 2. Results highlight that the probability of both R&D and non-R&D innovators of being credit constrained was determined by very similar characteristics, both before as well as during the crisis. Specifically, prior to and during the crisis, it was lower among larger (and more resource-abundant) firms and firms that already used a line of credit or loan and therefore had a longerstanding and more reputable debtor-creditor relationship with outside creditors, like banks. Hence, firms that had higher own financial resources at their disposal, also faced a lower probability of being credit constrained. Moreover, firms which financed their working capital requirements predominantly by means of internal funds and therefore had more substantial internal resources at their disposal showed a significantly lower likelihood of being credit constrained, but only before the crisis struck. On the contrary, exporters faced a significantly lower likelihood of being credit constrained, but during the crisis only.

In contrast, during the crisis only, firms which considered corruption an important obstacle to their current business operations were more likely to face credit constraints.

Trobability of being creak constrained. 2005 and 2005							
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)			
	R&D	R&D	Non-R&D	Non-R&D			
	innovator	innovator	innovator	innovator			
Variables	2005	2009	2005	2009			
Constant	0.997**	0.386	0.986**	0.168			
	(2.18)	(0.75)	(2.08)	(0.33)			
Medium-sized (yes=1)	-0.167*	-0.150	-0.160	-0.156			
	(1.72)	(1.47)	(1.64)	(1.52)			
Large (yes=1)	-0.423***	-0.315**	-0.426***	-0.337**			
	(2.88)	(2.09)	(2.85)	(2.23)			
Young (yes=1)	0.080	0.147	0.093	0.140			
	(0.52)	(0.94)	(0.59)	(0.90)			
Part of a group (yes=1)	-0.093	-0.074	-0.090	-0.064			
	(0.64)	(0.49)	(0.60)	(0.42)			
Majority foreign-owned (yes=1)	0.153	-0.276	0.167	-0.281			
	(0.71)	(1.17)	(0.77)	(1.18)			
Exporter	-0.067	-0.284*	-0.053	-0.311*			
	(0.42)	(1.66)	(0.33)	(1.80)			
Working capital financed by internal funds	-0.004***	-0.002	-0.004***	-0.002			
	(3.08)	(1.51)	(3.30)	(1.40)			
Credit (yes=1)	-1.082***	-1.243***	-1.095***	-1.246***			
	(10.63)	(12.48)	(10.72)	(12.52)			
Corruption (Likert scale)	-0.022	0.063*	0.003	0.067**			
	(0.69)	(1.91)	(0.09)	(2.04)			
Log sales per employee (in US-\$)	-0.057	-0.020	-0.060	-0.002			
	(1.35)	(0.43)	(1.37)	(0.05)			
Industry dummies	YES	YES	YES	YES			
Country dummies	YES	YES	YES	YES			
No of observations	1,361	1,397	1,360	1,398			

Probability of being credit constrained: 2005 and 2009

Note: Robust z-statistics in parentheses, *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1. Columns (1) and (2) refer to the R&D innovators for 2005 and 2009, respectively, while columns (3) and (4) refer to non-R&D innovators for 2005 and 2009, respectively. Country and industry dummies are included in all regressions.

6. Summary and conclusion

Table 3

Due to the very nature of innovative activities, innovators frequently encounter binding financing constraints in the course of tapping into (new) external funding sources. Consequently, bereft of crucial resources, many R&D projects share a common fate and are postponed or abandoned altogether, robbing economies of a strong and reliable engine towards sustained growth and development.

Against that backdrop, the analysis sought to shed light on whether and to what extent prevailing financing constraints in the form of binding credit constraints affected firms' probabilities of being innovators, both before as well as during the global financial crisis of 2009. It therefore explicitly identifies the role of the banking sector for firm-level innovative activities during the global financial crisis which was characterized by globally collapsing capital markets and swiftly contracting global and local credits markets that risked drying-up altogether. Moreover, to also account for the mostly neglected but sizeable group of innovators which introduce innovations without performing any formal R&D, the analysis studies separately constraint-responses of the group of formal R&D innovators - which assign resources to R&D development activities performed in-house - as well as of the group of non-R&D innovators – which do not perform any R&D but still develop and introduce new or significantly improved products and/or processes.

For that purpose, the analysis applies data for a set of Latin American countries that were collected as part of the World Bank Enterprise Survey (WBES) component of the Latin American and Caribbean (LAC) Enterprise Surveys 2006 and 2010. Methodologically, a recursive bivariate probit approach is used that incorporates the endogenous nature of the credit constraint condition. Results point at the presence and effects of non-negligible credit constraints: irrespective of the crisis, R&D innovators faced binding credit constraints which rendered them less likely to perform formal R&D. Moreover, there is no evidence that monetary policies aimed at stabilizing capital markets during the crisis by mobilizing extra capital for additional bank loans improved the probability of pursuing R&D-based innovative activities. On the contrary, non-R&D innovators, whose R&D activities are less resource-intensive and risky and more likely the result of learning-by-doing dynamics, remained unrestricted by credit constraints and unaffected by tighter credit markets during the crisis.

In addition, the analysis identified specific firm characteristics that were conducive or obstructive to any R&D or non-R&D activities. It demonstrates that innovative efforts of R&D and non-R&D innovators were driven by an entirely different set of firm characteristics. For *R&D innovators*, there is strong evidence in favour of Schumpeter's 'size-innovation' hypothesis but some indication against his 'competition-curbs-innovation' hypothesis. Furthermore, results also reveal that probably due to insufficient indigenous technological capabilities and the still mainly home country based nature of R&D, formal R&D efforts were less likely among majority foreign-owned firms. Moreover, group-membership and international trading status proved conducive to formal R&D efforts since firms which were part of a group profited from easy access to group-internal technical knowledge, human resources or funds while internationally trading firms had to adapt their products and/or processes to conditions and needs on their major (domestic or foreign) markets. On the contrary, *non-R&D-based* innovative activities were more likely among majority foreign-owned or smaller firms while firms that both export and import, faced minor product market competition, were part of a group or considered informal sector practices detrimental to their own business activities were less likely to perform non-R&D innovative activities.

Finally, evidence is found that almost identical firm characteristics determined whether R&D and non-R&D innovators faced any binding credit constraints: the probability of encountering any credit constraints was higher among firms whose business operations were more severely affected by corruption but lower among larger firms, exporters, firms with higher internal funds to dispose of and firms that had longer-standing and therefore most likely more reputable debtor-creditor relationships with outside creditors.

References

Agarwal, R., Gort, M., 2002, Firm product life cycles and firm survival, American Economic Review 92, 184-90.

Aghion, P. and P. Howitt, 1999, *Endogenous Growth Theory,* The MIT Press: Cambridge.

Allal, M., 2000, Micro and Small Enterprises in Thailand: Definitions and Contributions, ILO Project Working Paper on Micro and Small Enterprise Development and Poverty Alleviation in Thailand.

Álvarez, R. and G. Crespi, 2011, Financing Gaps, Innovation Gaps?: New Evidence from Chile, Paper presented at the 2011 Globelics Conference.

Arrow, K.J., 1962, The economic implications of learning by doing, American Economic Review 29, 155-73.

Arundel, A., Bordoy, C. and M. Kanerva, 2008, Neglected innovators: How do innovative firms that do not perform R&D innovate?, Results of an analysis of the Innobarometer 2007 survey No. 215, INNO-Metrics Thematic Paper.

Autor, D., L. Katz, and A. Krueger, 1998, Computing Inequality: Have Computers Changed the Labor Market?, Quarterly Journal of Economics, 113, 1169–1213.

Aw, B.Y., Roberts, M.J. and T. Winston, 2007, Training, and the Evolution of Firm Productivity, The World Economy 30(1), 83-104.

Ayyagari M., Demirgüc-Kunt, A. and V. Maksimovic, 2007, Firm Innovation in Emerging Markets: Role of Governance and Finance, World Bank Policy Research Working Paper No. 4157.

Balcet G. and R. Evangelista, 2005, Global technology: Innovation Strategies of Foreign Affiliates in Italy, Transnational Corporations, 14, 53-92.

Bartel, A. P. and F. R. Lichtenberg, 1987, The Comparative Advantage of Educated Workers in Implementing New Technology, Review of Economics and Statistics, 69, 1–11.

Beck, T., Demirgüç-Kunt, A. and V. Maksimovic, 2008, Financing Patterns Around the World: Are Small Firms Different?, Journal of Financial Economics 89: 467-87.

Beck, T., Demirgüç-Kunt, A. and V. Maksimovic, 2006, The Determinants of Financing Obstacles, Journal of International Money and Finance 25, 932-52.

Brown, J.R., Martinsson, G. and B.C. Petersen, 2010, Do Financing Constraints Matter for R&D? New Test and Evidence, Working Paper, Iowa State University.

Cohen, W. M. and S. Klepper, 1996, A Reprise of Size and R&D. The Economic Journal, 106, 925–51.

Crépon, G., Duguet; E. and J. Mairesse, 1998, Research, Innovation and Productivity: An Econometric Analysis at the Firm Level, Economics of Innovation and New Technology, 7(2), 115-58.

Dachs, B. and B. Ebersberger, Does Foreign Ownership Matter for the Innovative Activities of Enterprises?, International Economics and Economic Policy, 6, 41-57.

Falk, M., 2008, Effects of Foreign Ownership on Innovation Activities: Empirical Evidence for Twelve European Countries, National Institute Economic Review No. 204.

Fazzari, S., G. Hubbard, and B. Peterson, 1988, Financing Constraints and Corporate Investment, Brookings Papers on Economic Activity, 78 (2), 141-95.

Frenz, M. and G. letto-Gillies, 2007, Does Multinationality Affect the Propensity to Innovate? An Analysis of the Third UK Community Innovation Survey, International Review of Applied Economics 21(1), 99-117.

Griffith R., S. Redding and H. Simpson, 2004, Foreign Ownership and Productivity: New Evidence from the Service Sector and the R&D Lab, CEP Discussion Papers 0649, Centre for Economic Performance, LSE.

Griliches, Z., 1969, Capital-Skill Complementarity, Review of Economics and Statistics, 51(4), 465-68.

Guo, K. and V. Stepanyan, 2011, Determinants of Bank Credits in Emerging Market Economies, IMF Working Paper No. WP/11/51.

Gustavsson, P. and A. Poldahl, 2003, Determinants of Firm R&D: Evidence from Swedish Firm Level Data, FIEF Working Paper Series No. 190.

Hajivassiliou, V. and F. Savignac, 2008, Financing Constraints and a Firm's Decision and Ability to Innovate: Establishing Direct and Reverse Effects, Notes D'Édutes et de Recherche, NER - R # 202.

Horowitz, I., 1962, Firm Size and Research Activity, Southern Economic Journal 28, 298-301.

Huang, C., Arundel, A. and H. Hollanders, How Firms Innovate: R&D, Non-R&D, and Technology Adoption, UNU-MERIT Working Paper Series # 2010-027.

Janz, N., H. Lööf and B. Peters, 2003, Firm Level Innovation and Productivity - Is there a Common Story Across Countries?, ZEW Discussion Papers, No. 03-26.

Jara, A., Moreno, R. and C.E. Tovar, 2009, The Global Crisis and Latin America: Financial Impact and Policy Responses, BIS Quarterly Review, June 2009.

Johansson, B., Lööf, H. and B. Ebersberger, 2008, The Innovation and Productivity Effect of Foreign Take-Over of National Assets, The Royal Institute of technology, Centre of Excellence for Science and Innovation Studies (CESIS), Electronic Working Paper Series No. 141.

Kaplan, S.N. and L. Zingales, 2000, Investment-Cash Flow Sensitivities are not Valid Measures of Financing Constraints, The Quarterly Journal of Economics, 115, 707-12.

Kaplan, S.N. and L. Zingales, 1997, Do Investment-Cash Flow Sensitivities Provide Useful Measures of Financing Constraints?, The Quarterly Journal of Economics, 112, 169-215.

Kemal, A.R. and Z. Mahmood, 1998, The Urban Informal Sector of Pakistan: Some Stylized Facts, PIDE Research Report Series No. 161.

Loderer, C. and U. Waelchli, 2010, Firm age and performance, MPRA Paper No. 26450.

Mohnen, P., Palm, F.C., Schim van der Loeff, S. and A. Tiwari, 2008, Financial Constraints and Other Obstacles: Are they a Threat to Innovation Activity?, UNU-MERIT Working Paper Series No. 2008-006.

Mancusi, M.L. and A. Vezzulli, 2010, R&D and Credit Rationing in SMEs, presented at the 38th Annual Conference of the European Association for Research in Industrial Economics, Stockholm.

Männasoo, K. and J. Meriküll, 2011, R&D, Demand Fluctuations and Credit Constraints: Comparative Evidence from Europe, Eesti Pank Working Paper Series No. 5/2011.

OECD, 2010, Measuring Innovation: A New Perspective, OECD, Paris.

Pavitt, K., M. Robinson and J. Townsend, 1987, The Size Distribution of Innovating Firms in the UK: 1945–1983, Journal of Industrial Economics 35, 297–316.

Schumpeter, J. A., 1934, The Theory of Economic Development, Cambridge: Harvard University Press.

Schumpeter, J.A., 1942, Capitalism, Socialism and Democracy, NewYork: Harper.

Schiantarelli, F. and A. Sembenelli, 2000, Form of Ownership and Financial Constraints: Panel Data Evidence From Flow of Funds and Investment Equations, Empirica 27, 175-92.

Shin, H.H. and Y.S. Park, 1999, Financing constraints and internal capital markets: Evidence from Korean 'chaebols', Journal of Corporate Finance 5, 169-91.

Stiglitz, J.E and A. Weiss, 1981, Credit Rationing in Markets with Imperfect Information, American Economic Review, 71(3), 393-410.

Winograd, C. and M. Brei, 2009, The Global Financial Crisis: From NYC to LATAM, Paris School of Economics and University of Paris-Evry.

Appendix

Table A1

List of variables and definitions

Variable	Definition
R&D innovator	D=1 if firm that assigned resources to R&D development activities performed in-house
Non-R&D innovator	D=1 if firm that did not perform any R&D but still introduced new or significantly improved products over the last three years
Constrained	D=1 if firm did not apply for a credit or loan since either i) application procedures were considered too complex, ii) interest rates were too unfavourable, iii) collateral requirements were unattainable, iv) the size of the loan and maturity were insufficient, v) did not think the credit line would have been approved, or vi) due to other reasons.
Small	D=1 if firm had up to 19 employees (reference group)
Medium-sized	D=1 if firm had more than 19 but less than 99 employees
Large	D=1 if firm had more than 99 employees
Young	D=1 if in 2005, firm was younger than 4 years old
Part of a larger firm	D=1 if firm was part of a larger firm
Majority foreign-owned	D=1 if more than 50 percent was owned by private foreign individuals, companies or organizations
Exporter	D=1 if firm earned more than 10 percent from export activities
Exporter only	D=1 if firm exported only
Importer only	D=1 if firm imported only
Exporter and importer	D=1 if firm exported and imported
Informal sector practices	Likert scale variable; whether practices of competitors in the informal sector were: no obstacle=1, minor obstacle=1, moderate obstacle=2, major obstacle=3 and very severe obstacle=4
Competition: minor	D=1 if firm faces only 1 competitor in major market
Competition: moderate	D=1 if firm faces between 2 and five competitors in major market
Competition: strong	D=1 if firm faces more than 5 competitors in major market
Non-production labour share	Ratio of non-production to production workers
Working capital financed by in- ternal funds	Share of working capital financed from internal sources
Credit	D=1 if firm already used a line of credit or loan
Corruption	Likert scale variable; whether corruption was obstacle to current business operations of firms: no obstacle=1, minor obstacle=1, moderate obstacle=2, major obstacle=3 and very severe obstacle=4
Sales per employee	Log of annual sales (in US-\$) per employee

Table A2

Descriptive statistics for R&D innovators: 2005

Variable	Obs	Mean	Std. Dev.	Min	Max
R&D innovator	1361	0.42	0.49	0	1
Constrained	1361	0.20	0.40	0	1
Medium-sized	1361	0.41	0.49	0	1
Large	1361	0.20	0.40	0	1
Young	1361	0.08	0.27	0	1
Part of a larger firm	1361	0.12	0.33	0	1
Majority foreign-owned	1361	0.05	0.23	0	1
Exporter only	1361	0.04	0.21	0	1
Importer only	1361	0.26	0.44	0	1
Exporter and importer	1361	0.07	0.25	0	1
Informal sector practices	1361	2.20	1.42	0	4
Competition: minor	1361	0.04	0.19	0	1
Competition: moderate	1361	0.04	0.19	0	1
Competition: strong	1361	0.34	0.47	0	1
Non-production labour share	1361	0.79	1.94	0	54

Table A3

Descriptive statistics for R&D innovators: 2009

Variable	Obs	Mean	Std. Dev.	Min	Max
R&D innovator	1397	0.48	0.50	0	1
Constrained	1397	0.18	0.38	0	1
Medium-sized	1397	0.40	0.49	0	1
Large	1397	0.23	0.42	0	1
Young	1397	0.08	0.28	0	1
Part of a larger firm	1397	0.14	0.34	0	1
Majority foreign-owned	1397	0.06	0.24	0	1
Exporter only	1397	0.05	0.21	0	1
Importer only	1397	0.29	0.45	0	1
Exporter and importer	1397	0.07	0.26	0	1
Informal sector practices	1397	2.12	1.28	0	4
Competition: minor	1397	0.03	0.17	0	1
Competition: moderate	1397	0.04	0.19	0	1
Competition: strong	1397	0.34	0.47	0	1
Non-production labour share	1397	0.80	1.35	0	34

Table A4

Descriptive statistics for non-R&D innovators: 2005

Variable	Obs	Mean	Std. Dev.	Min	Max
Non-R&D innovator	1360	0.38	0.49	0	1
Constrained	1360	0.20	0.40	0	1
Medium-sized	1360	0.41	0.49	0	1
Large	1360	0.20	0.40	0	1
Young	1360	0.08	0.27	0	1
Part of a larger firm	1360	0.12	0.33	0	1
Majority foreign-owned	1360	0.05	0.23	0	1
Exporter only	1360	0.04	0.21	0	1
Importer only	1360	0.26	0.44	0	1
Exporter and importer	1360	0.07	0.25	0	1
Informal sector practices	1360	2.20	1.42	0	4
Competition: minor	1360	0.04	0.19	0	1
Competition: moderate	1360	0.04	0.19	0	1
Competition: strong	1360	0.33	0.47	0	1
Non-production labour share	1360	0.78	1.92	0	54

Table A5

Descriptive statistics for non-R&D innovators: 2009

Variable	Obs	Mean	Std. Dev.	Min	Max
Non-R&D innovator	1398	0.28	0.45	0	1
Constrained	1398	0.18	0.38	0	1
Medium-sized	1398	0.40	0.49	0	1
Large	1398	0.23	0.42	0	1
Young	1398	0.08	0.28	0	1
Part of a larger firm	1398	0.14	0.35	0	1
Majority foreign-owned	1398	0.06	0.24	0	1
Exporter only	1398	0.05	0.21	0	1
Importer only	1398	0.29	0.45	0	1
Exporter and importer	1398	0.07	0.26	0	1
Informal sector practices	1398	2.12	1.28	0	4
Competition: minor	1398	0.03	0.17	0	1
Competition: moderate	1398	0.04	0.19	0	1
Competition: strong	1398	0.34	0.47	0	1
Non-production labour share	1398	0.80	1.35	0	34

Correlation matrix for R&D innovators: 2005

	CONSTR	MEDIUM	LARGE	YOUNG	PART	FOREIGN	EXPonly	IMPony	EXPIMP	INFORM	COMmin	COMmed	COMstr	NPLS
CONSTR	1													
MEDIUM	-0.044	1												
LARGE	-0.127	-0.416	1											
YOUNG	0.018	-0.034	-0.097	1										
PART	-0.047	-0.042	0.291	-0.060	1									
FOREIGN	-0.030	-0.049	0.231	-0.034	0.186	1								
EXPonly	0.018	0.017	0.073	-0.036	0.061	0.012	1							
IMPony	-0.101	0.074	0.191	-0.050	0.071	0.122	-0.128	1						
EXPIMP	-0.082	-0.027	0.273	-0.045	0.105	0.130	-0.058	-0.160	1					
INFORM	0.060	0.011	-0.022	-0.003	-0.038	-0.034	0.012	-0.052	-0.082	1				
COMmin	0.023	-0.030	-0.005	-0.002	-0.018	-0.032	-0.025	-0.034	-0.024	-0.194	1			
COMmed	-0.019	0.027	-0.009	0.001	-0.038	0.091	-0.004	-0.028	0.057	-0.154	-0.039	1		
COMstr	-0.027	0.076	0.015	0.041	0.103	0.050	0.052	0.108	0.041	-0.135	-0.143	-0.139	1	
NPLS	-0.033	-0.001	0.066	-0.001	0.088	0.032	-0.031	0.081	0.009	-0.014	-0.027	-0.020	-0.016	1

Table A7

Correlation matrix for R&D innovators: 2009

	CONSTR	MEDIUM	LARGE	YOUNG	PART	FOREIGN	EXPonly	IMPony	EXPIMP	INFORM	COMmin	COMmed	COMstr	NPLS
CONSTR	1													
MEDIUM	-0.064	1												
LARGE	-0.136	-0.448	1											
YOUNG	0.040	-0.049	-0.082	1										
PART	-0.058	-0.072	0.315	-0.083	1									
FOREIGN	-0.055	-0.080	0.269	-0.032	0.199	1								
EXPonly	-0.021	-0.035	0.132	-0.016	0.054	0.033	1							
IMPony	-0.117	0.103	0.183	-0.038	0.123	0.155	-0.138	1						
EXPIMP	-0.089	-0.053	0.241	-0.045	0.040	0.151	-0.061	-0.178	1					
INFORM	0.117	0.013	-0.124	0.012	-0.059	-0.048	-0.021	-0.072	-0.085	1				
COMmin	-0.006	0.003	-0.028	0.022	-0.034	-0.027	0.002	-0.066	0.031	-0.145	1			
COMmed	0.003	0.005	-0.006	-0.007	-0.026	-0.003	-0.008	-0.004	0.044	-0.066	-0.035	1		
COMstr	-0.038	0.022	0.081	-0.015	0.078	0.101	0.063	0.071	0.066	-0.118	-0.126	-0.144	1	
NPLS	-0.040	-0.021	0.029	0.007	0.114	0.015	0.010	0.085	-0.015	0.030	-0.024	-0.052	-0.038	1

Table A6

29

Correlation matrix for non-R&D innovators: 2005

	CONSTR	MEDIUM	LARGE	YOUNG	PART	FOREIGN	EXPonly	IMPony	EXPIMP	INFORM	COMmin	COMmed	COMstr	NPLS
CONSTR	1													
MEDIUM	-0.044	1												
LARGE	-0.128	-0.416	1											
YOUNG	0.018	-0.034	-0.097	1										
PART	-0.047	-0.042	0.290	-0.060	1									
FOREIGN	-0.030	-0.050	0.231	-0.034	0.186	1								
EXPonly	0.018	0.016	0.073	-0.036	0.061	0.012	1							
IMPony	-0.101	0.074	0.190	-0.050	0.071	0.122	-0.128	1						
EXPIMP	-0.082	-0.027	0.273	-0.046	0.105	0.130	-0.058	-0.160	1					
INFORM	0.060	0.010	-0.022	-0.003	-0.038	-0.034	0.012	-0.052	-0.082	1				
COMmin	0.023	-0.030	-0.005	-0.002	-0.018	-0.032	-0.025	-0.034	-0.024	-0.194	1			
COMmed	-0.019	0.027	-0.009	0.001	-0.038	0.091	-0.004	-0.028	0.057	-0.154	-0.039	1		
COMstr	-0.025	0.075	0.016	0.042	0.104	0.050	0.053	0.109	0.041	-0.136	-0.143	-0.138	1	
NPLS	-0.031	-0.006	0.069	0.001	0.090	0.034	-0.031	0.084	0.010	-0.018	-0.027	-0.020	-0.022	1

Table A9

Correlation matrix for non-R&D innovators: 2009

	CONSTR	MEDIUM	LARGE	YOUNG	PART	FOREIGN	EXPonly	IMPony	EXPIMP	INFORM	COMmin	COMmed	COMstr	NPLS
CONSTR	1													
MEDIUM	-0.064	1												
LARGE	-0.137	-0.448	1											
YOUNG	0.040	-0.049	-0.082	1										
PART	-0.058	-0.074	0.317	-0.084	1									
FOREIGN	-0.055	-0.079	0.268	-0.032	0.198	1								
EXPonly	-0.021	-0.035	0.132	-0.016	0.053	0.033	1							
IMPony	-0.117	0.103	0.182	-0.038	0.121	0.155	-0.138	1						
EXPIMP	-0.090	-0.055	0.245	-0.046	0.046	0.149	-0.061	-0.179	1					
INFORM	0.117	0.014	-0.126	0.012	-0.062	-0.047	-0.021	-0.071	-0.089	1				
COMmin	-0.006	0.003	-0.028	0.023	-0.034	-0.027	0.002	-0.066	0.031	-0.144	1			
COMmed	0.003	0.005	-0.006	-0.007	-0.026	-0.003	-0.008	-0.004	0.043	-0.065	-0.035	1		
COMstr	-0.038	0.022	0.080	-0.015	0.076	0.101	0.063	0.071	0.064	-0.117	-0.126	-0.144	1	
NPLS	-0.040	-0.020	0.028	0.007	0.113	0.015	0.010	0.085	-0.016	0.030	-0.024	-0.052	-0.038	1

30

Short list of the most recent wiiw publications (as of February 2013)

For current updates and summaries see also wiiw's website at <u>www.wiiw.ac.at</u>

R&D and Non-R&D Innovators in the Financial Crisis: the Role of Binding Credit Constraints by Sandra M. Leitner and Robert Stehrer

wiiw Working Papers, No. 95, February 2013 31 pages including 12 Tables and 3 Figure hardcopy: EUR 8.00 (PDF: free download from wiiw's website)

Whither Panama? Constructing a Consistent and Balanced World SUT System including International Trade and Transport Margins

by Gerhard Streicher and Robert Stehrer

wiiw Working Papers, No. 94, January 2013 21 pages including 5 Tables and 3 Figure hardcopy: EUR 8.00 (PDF: free download from wiiw's website)

wiiw Monthly Report 1/13

edited by Leon Podkaminer

- The European Commission grossly underestimates the effects of German domestic demand expansion
- The new North-South Divide in Europe can the European convergence model be resuscitated?
- Changes in the European convergence model
- Statistical Annex: Selected monthly data on the economic situation in Central, East and Southeast Europe
- wiiw, January 2013

32 pages including 8 Tables and 11 Figures

(exclusively for subscribers to the wiiw Service Package)

wiiw Monthly Report 12/12

edited by Leon Podkaminer

- Draghi's démarche and the nightmare of the Bundesbank
- Trade does not drive global growth
- A note on Kazakhstan's Oil Fund
- Statistical Annex: Selected monthly data on the economic situation in Central, East and Southeast Europe
- wiiw, December 2012

28 pages including 13 Tables and 5 Figures

(exclusively for subscribers to the wiiw Service Package)

The Role of Multinational Companies in International Business Integration

by Gábor Hunya

wiiw Research Reports, No. 384, November 2012 43 pages including 8 Tables and 18 Figures hardcopy: EUR 8.00 (PDF: free download from wiiw's website)

wiiw Handbook of Statistics 2012: Central, East and Southeast Europe

covers key economic data on Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Bulgaria, Croatia, the Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, Macedonia, Montenegro, Poland, Romania, Russia, Serbia, Slovakia, Slovenia, Ukraine wiiw, Vienna, November 2012 (ISBN-978-3-85209-030-6) 428 pages including 248 Tables and 117 Figures Hardcopy, including CD-ROM with PDF: EUR 92.00 (tables cover the period 2000, 2005, 2008-2011, graphs range from 2007 to September 2012) PDF on CD-ROM: EUR 75.00 PDF download: EUR 70.00 (tables and graphs are identical to those in the hardcopy of the Handbook) Excel Tables on CD-ROM, including PDF to view graphs and preface, plus hardcopy: EUR 250.00 Excel Tables download, including PDF to view graphs and preface: EUR 245.00 (time series covering the whole period 1990-2011)

wiiw Monthly Report 11/12

edited by Leon Podkaminer

- Eurozone crisis and fiscal austerity push half of the CESEE region into recession
- Albania: EU, ho!
- · Bosnia and Herzegovina: change without evolution
- · Croatia: employment victimized by budget consolidation
- Kazakhstan: slower growth due to lower oil production
- Macedonia: back to recession
- Montenegro: new old government
- · Russian Federation: growth flat, politics bad
- Serbia: new government, old problems
- · Ukraine: incumbent political elite retains its grip
- Statistical Annex: Selected data on FDI in Central, East and Southeast Europe wiiw, November 2012
- 40 pages including 18 Tables

(exclusively for subscribers to the wiiw Service Package)

wiiw Monthly Report 10/12

edited by Leon Podkaminer

- Bulgaria: economic sluggishness expected to drag on
- Czech Republic: deepening recession
- · Estonia: domestic demand mitigates slowdown
- · Hungary: waning growth prospects
- · Latvia: growth remains in high gear
- · Lithuania: consumers sustain vivid growth
- Poland: soft landing materializes
- · Romania: investment-led growth amidst political
- · Slovakia: export-led growth
- Slovenia: stabilization of the banking sector still ahead
- Statistical Annex: Selected data on FDI in Central, East and Southeast Europe wiiw, October 2012

46 pages including 20 Tables (exclusively for subscribers to the wiiw Service Package)

Global Value Chains and the EU Industry

by Robert Stehrer, Marcin Borowiecki, Bernhard Dachs, Doris Hanzl-Weiss, Steffen Kinkel, Johannes Pöschl, Magdolna Sass, Thomas Christian Schmall and Andrea Szalavetz

wiiw Research Reports, No. 383, October 2012 152 pages including 42 Tables and 34 Figures hardcopy: EUR 8.00 (PDF: free download from wiiw's website)

European Neighbourhood – Challenges and Opportunities for EU Competitiveness

by Peter Havlik et al.

wiiw Research Reports, No. 382, September 2012 154 pages including 24 Tables and 61 Figures hardcopy: EUR 8.00 (PDF: free download from wiiw's website)

Trade Integration in the CIS: Alternate Options, Economic Effects and Policy Implications for Belarus, Kazakhstan, Russia and Ukraine

by Vasily Astrov, Peter Havlik and Olga Pindyuk

wiiw Research Reports, No. 381, September 2012 108 pages including 31 Tables and 26 Figures hardcopy: EUR 24.00 (PDF: EUR 15.00)

Changes in the Structure of Intra-Visegrad Trade after the Visegrad Countries' Accession to the European Union

by Sándor Richter

wiiw Statistical Reports, No. 5, September 2012 99 pages including 52 Tables and 81 Figures hardcopy: EUR 24.00 (PDF: EUR 15.00)

wiiw Monthly Report 8-9/12

edited by Leon Podkaminer

- Trade and economic integration in the CIS: an evaluation
- Volume and variety of intra-bloc trade in an expanded European Union
- The gravity of cross-border R&D expenditure
- Statistical Annex: Selected data on FDI in Central, East and Southeast Europe
- wiiw, August-September 2012

34 pages including 14 Tables and 4 Figures

(exclusively for subscribers to the wiiw Service Package)

Innovation and Technology Transfer across Countries

by Neil Foster

wiiw Research Reports, No. 380, August 2012 117 pages including 20 Tables and 37 Figures hardcopy: EUR 24.00 (PDF: free download from wiiw's website)

Sectoral Employment Effects of Economic Downturns

by Robert Stehrer, Terry Ward et al.

wiiw Research Reports, No. 379, August 2012 246 pages including 64 Tables and 39 Figures hardcopy: EUR 24.00 (PDF: free download from wiiw's website)

wiiw Service Package

The Vienna Institute offers to firms and institutions interested in unbiased and up-to-date information on Central, East and Southeast European markets a package of exclusive services and preferential access to its publications and research findings, on the basis of a subscription at an annual fee of EUR 2,000.

This subscription fee entitles to the following package of **Special Services**:

- A free invitation to the Vienna Institute's Spring Seminar, a whole-day event at the end of March, devoted to compelling topics in the economic transformation of the Central and East European region (for subscribers to the wiiw Service Package only).
- Copies of, or online access to, *The Vienna Institute Monthly Report*, a periodical consisting of timely articles summarizing and interpreting the latest economic developments in Central and Eastern Europe and the former Soviet Union. The statistical annex to each *Monthly Report* contains, alternately, country-specific tables or graphs with monthly key economic indicators, economic forecasts, the latest data from the wiiw Industrial Database and excerpts from the wiiw FDI Database. This periodical is not for sale, it can only be obtained in the framework of the wiiw Service Package.
- Free copies of the Institute's **Research Reports** (including **Reprints**), **Current Analyses** and Forecasts, Country Profiles and Statistical Reports.
- A free copy of the *wiiw Handbook of Statistics* (published in October/November each year and containing more than 400 tables and graphs on the economies of Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Bulgaria, Croatia, the Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, Macedonia, Montenegro, Poland, Romania, Russia, Serbia, the Slovak Republic, Slovenia and Ukraine)
- Free online access to the wiiw Monthly Database, containing more than 1200 leading indicators monitoring the latest key economic developments in ten Central and East European countries.
- Consulting. The Vienna Institute is pleased to advise subscribers on questions concerning the East European economies or East-West economic relations if the required background research has already been undertaken by the Institute. We regret we have to charge extra for *ad hoc* research.
- Free access to the Institute's specialized economics library and documentation facilities.

Subscribers who wish to purchase wiiw data sets **on CD-ROM** or special publications not included in the wiiw Service Package are granted considerable **price reductions**.

For detailed information about the wiiw Service Package please visit wiiw's website at www.wiiw.ac.at

To The Vienna Institute for International Economic Studies Rahlgasse 3 A-1060 Vienna

- O Please forward more detailed information about the Vienna Institute's Service Package
- O Please forward a complete list of the Vienna Institute's publications to the following address

Please enter me for

- 1 yearly subscription of *Research Reports* (including *Reprints*) at a price of EUR 120.00 (hardcopy, Austria),
 EUR 135.00 (hardcopy, Europe), EUR 155.00 (hardcopy, overseas) and EUR 48.00 (PDF download with password) respectively
- 1 yearly subscription of *Current Analyses and Forecasts* a price of EUR 150.00 (hardcopy, Austria),
 EUR 155.00 (hardcopy, Europe), EUR 170.00 (hardcopy, overseas) and EUR 120.00 (PDF download with password) respectively

Please forward

0	the following issue of Research Reports
0	the following issue of Current Analyses and Forecasts
0	the following issue of Working Papers
0	the following issue of Research Papers in German language
0	the following issue of wiiw Database on Foreign Direct Investment
0	the following issue of wiiw Handbook of Statistics
0	(other)

Name		
Address		
Telephone	Fax	E-mail
Date		Signature

Herausgeber, Verleger	r, Eigentümer und Hersteller:				
	Verein "Wiener Institut für Internationale Wirtschaftsvergleiche" (wiiw), Wien 6, Rahlgasse 3				
	ZVR-Zahl: 329995655				
Postanschrift:	A-1060 Wien, Rahlgasse 3, Tel: [+431] 533 66 10, Telefax: [+431] 533 66 10 50				
nternet Homepage: www.wiiw.ac.at					
Nachdruck nur auszug	sweise und mit genauer Quellenangabe gestattet.				
P.b.b. Verlagspostamt	1060 Wien				